# **RECEIVED** 04-12-2017

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2015AP2667-CR & 2015AP2668-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERROD R. BELL,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review from a Decision of the Court of Appeals
Affirming Judgments of Conviction and an Order Denying a
Postconviction Motion for a New Trial Entered in the Monroe
County Circuit Court, the Honorable Michael J. Rosborough,
Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

SUZANNE L. HAGOPIAN Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1000179

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Did the prosecutor's statements, which began in voir dire and continued in closing argument impermissibly shift the burden of proof, deprive Bell of the benefits of the reasonable doubt instruction and distort the jury's credibility determination, thereby requiring a new trial as plain error or due to ineffective assistance of counsel, where the prosecutor repeatedly told the jurors that in order to find Bell not guilty:
  - they "have to believe" or "must believe" that the sisters were lying about the alleged sexual assaults; and
  - there must be evidence of a reason for the sisters to lie and the defendant has presented no reason, just speculation?

The circuit court deemed the arguments mere advocacy and denied Bell's postconviction motion for a new trial. The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the prosecutor's statements did not misstate the law.

2. Was Bell denied the right to effective assistance of counsel because the jury was given two unredacted exhibits containing information that the younger sister had never had sexual intercourse until she was assaulted by Bell?

Following an evidentiary hearing, the circuit court denied Bell's postconviction motion without expressly addressing this claim. The court of appeals held that Bell failed to show he was prejudiced by the jury's access to the unredacted exhibits.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Given the court's grant of review, both oral argument and publication are warranted.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a jury trial in 2002, Gerrod R. Bell was convicted of three counts of second-degree sexual assault by use of force, one count of second-degree sexual assault of a child and bail jumping. (69-71; R2, 41-42; App. 122-25). The offenses involved two sisters, TP, who was 14, and AL, who was 17. Because Bell was convicted of the sexual assault charges as a persistent repeater, the court imposed life sentences on those four counts. (72; R2, 44). Subsequently, Bell successfully challenged three of the four life sentences. (143; R2, 117:4).

Although the convictions are some 15 years old, Bell is still on his direct appeal under Wis. Stat. § 809.30 due to an unusual procedural history not relevant to the issues on appeal.<sup>2</sup>

In a § 809.30(2)(h) postconviction motion, Bell sought a new trial due to the prosecutor's misstatements of law to the jury and unredacted exhibits sent back to the jury during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations are to the record in No. 2015AP2667-CR unless the document appears only in No. 2015AP2668-CR, in which case it is designated as "R2".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A detailed description of that procedural history is set forth in Bell's court of appeals' brief at pages two to four.

deliberations. (132). Following a *Machner*<sup>3</sup> hearing, the circuit court denied Bell's claims for a new trial. (143; R2, 143:94-101; App. 127-34).

Bell appealed from the judgments of conviction and order denying a new trial. (144; R2, 138). The court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Bell*, slip op. ¶3 (App. 102). This court granted Bell's petition for review.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### Evidence Presented at Trial

The state had no DNA evidence, no other persons who witnessed the alleged assaults and no admission from Bell. Its case was dependent upon the testimony of TP and AL.

In the summer of 2001, TP was living with her mother and two younger siblings. (84:183; 85:313). TP's older sister, AL, did not live in the home but often visited. (84:176-78). Bell was a friend of their mother and spent a lot of time at her house. (84:179). Near the end of July, their mother decided to throw a birthday party for AL. (85:208-09). She served a variety of alcohol at the party. (85: 212). TP drank to the point that she fell down. (84:217; 85:328).

Bell was convicted of two crimes – second-degree sexual assault of a child and second-degree sexual assault by use of force – for an assault that TP claimed occurred at the end of the party. (1, 11, 12, 69-71). After midnight, TP's mother told her to put out the bonfire in the backyard. (85:441). According to TP, Bell followed her outside, sat next to her on the grass and began rubbing her stomach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

(85:441-43). She said that when she tried to get up, Bell pulled her to the ground and engaged in forced intercourse. (85:444-49).

TP did not tell her mom or sister but eventually said something to a friend and, thereafter, the police were involved. (85:451-53). TP spoke with Sergeant Dale Stickney, who testified she was "very hesitant to ... report the incident." (85:353). Nevertheless, based upon her report, Bell was arrested the next day. (*Id.*). Bell told the officer that he was never alone with TP on the night of the party and denied ever touching TP in a "sexual manner." (53:4; 85:358). When asked why TP would make the allegation, Bell said he had "no clue" and said it might be "because I haven't been around to – see them, I don't know." (85:361). Bell did not testify at trial.

Twice, TP walked out of a videotaped interview with Detective LaVern Erickson and a social worker, declaring "it's all bullshit" and "I can't do this." (85:470-72, 509). They were not able to complete the interview but decided to try again three days later. (85: 472, 509). During the second interview, TP walked out again, saying that she couldn't do it anymore. (85:472-73, 509). Eventually, they finished the statement. (85:473). The detective, who had been in law enforcement for 17 years, had never before seen a complainant walk out of a taped interview. (85:499, 509).

At about the same time, TP was examined by a pediatrician who testified that TP had no hymenal tissue. (85:423). Based upon the lack of hymenal tissue and TP's ability to handle the exam without signs of discomfort, the doctor opined that it was "likely" that TP had had sexual intercourse at "some point in her life." (85:424-26).

After the assault of TP was reported, Detective Erickson asked AL if she had ever been touched by Bell. (85:259-60). She said nothing had happened to her. (Id.). A week or so later, AL told the detective about three incidents that allegedly occurred around the time of the party. She said Bell had touched her breast when they were sitting on the couch, he tried to get her to go downstairs to a bedroom and, on the night of the party, he made a "pass" at her. (85:261). Five months later, AL reported for the first time that Bell raped her in the bathroom of her mother's home in early July, several weeks before the other incidents she had described and the party. (85:262). Although four other persons were in the home when the assault allegedly occurred, including a younger sister who was in the living room eight feet from the bathroom, neither the sister nor any other occupant testified about the assault. (85:277-78; 86:549).

By the time of trial, Bell was facing four sexual assault charges based on AL's allegations, two counts of second-degree sexual assault for the alleged bathroom and breast-touching incidents, and two counts of attempted second-degree sexual assault for the alleged pass and attempt to force her downstairs. (R2, 6, 7, 8, 11). However, the court dismissed the two latter counts at the end of trial due to insufficient evidence. (86:609-10).

The jury heard evidence that just a few days before trial, AL told Sergeant Stickney that her mother had told she and TP to lie about the amount of alcohol that TP had to drink at the party, specifically, to say that she had just one wine cooler when, in fact, she was intoxicated. (85:327-29, 402-15, 457). The sergeant testified that when confronted a few days before trial with information that she had considerably more to drink than one wine cooler, TP persisted with her denial until the second day of questioning when she admitted

to being "drunk or buzzed." (85:405-13). TP testified that she had lied because she had been under both JIPS and CHIPS orders and she was afraid of being sent back to the group home. (85:456).

Although Bell did not testify, the jury heard that when he told Sergeant Stickney that he did not assault TP, Stickney asked if he would take a computer voice stress analysis, which "usually can tell truth from untruth." (86:601). Without hesitation, Bell told the sergeant, "'yes, go ahead, set it up." (86:602). The test was never done because the sergeant "dropped the ball." (*Id.*).

# Facts Relevant to Bell's Claim for a New Trial Due to Prosecutor's Improper Comments

Bell sought a new trial due to the prosecutor's comments, which began in voir dire and continued in closing argument, telling the jury that (1) in order to find Bell not guilty, it must believe that the sisters were lying; and (2) for the jury to conclude the sisters were lying, there must be evidence proving a reason for them to lie; the defense offered only speculation as to a reason; and the reasonable doubt instruction does not allow the jury to speculate. (132:8).

# Comments during voir dire

The state foreshadowed the theme of its closing argument in voir dire when, after talking about whether a teenager would lie about something as important as sexual assault (84:67-71; App. 135-39), the prosecutor asked:

Would everybody agree here that ... if you're going to lie, you're going to have a reason like jealousy of some sort; there's going to be a reason why you would lie? Everybody agree with that? Everybody is nodding their head.

(84:69-70; App. 137-38). The prosecutor then asked for reasons that a "teenage girl might falsely accuse someone of sexual assault" and obtained answers including attention, revenge and jealousy. (84:70; App. 138). The prosecutor singled out two panel members, both of whom were selected for the jury (84:128), and asked if they would expect there would be "some sort of evidence" that this person would have a reason to lie.

Would you expect there would be some evidence that somebody would have a reason to lie? There would be some sort of evidence that this person would have a reason to lie about –

\* \* \*

... do you think there would be some sort of evidence that this person had lied?

(84:71-72; App. 139-40). Both responded in the affirmative, and the prosecutor followed up by referring to the jury instructions.

[Y]ou're going to hear the jury instructions ... on reasonable doubt. And one thing is going to tell you you're not allowed to speculate, that it's going to be a doubt based upon either the evidence or lack of evidence and you're not going to be allowed to speculate.

(84:72; App. 140). Turning to a panel member who said she believed her nephew had been falsely accused and who was not selected (84:128), the prosecutor asked:

... if you weren't to hear evidence of why a person might lie, would you feel inclined to speculate based upon your past experience with a case like this with your nephew?

(*Id.*). After she said she wouldn't do that, the prosecutor asked again:

You'd be able to not to speculate and just look at the facts, the evidence or lack of evidence in this case.

# (*Id.*). The prosecutor then addressed the entire panel:

Okay, and that question is to everybody else, would you be able to just follow the jury instructions and not speculate and base your decision based on the evidence or lack of evidence in the case?

(84:73; App. 141). The prosecutor noted that no one was shaking their head. (*Id.*).

# Comments during closing argument

The prosecutor immediately reprised this theme in closing argument when, after noting that reasonable doubt is not a doubt based on speculation (87:635; App. 143), he argued:

I think it's interesting to start from this point of view. What must we believe, what things must we believe for the defendant to be not guilty? After hearing all the evidence that we've heard, what are the things that we must believe true if he is not guilty?

First of all, when it comes to [TP], who's 13 [sic], that she first lied to Sergeant Stickney about the defendant raping her. We have to believe that she then proceeded in the videotape that occurred over two days—one of those videotapes we saw, the first one—that she then lied to the social worker, Robyn Ryba, about the rape. That the defendant, when the defendant assaulted her.

We then have to believe that she lied to us. You have to believe that.

We have to then believe when we look at [AL] and her testimony, we would have to believe if the defendant is not guilty, that she first lied to Detective LaVern Erickson when she told him about the incident on the couch when the defendant held her down and grabbed her breast. And that's the first thing that she came forward with.

The other instances when they were investigating the night of the party, we have to believe she lied about that.

(87:635-36; App. 143-44).

At that point, defense counsel objected, expressing concern "about how he's presenting this because I think he's reversing the burden of proof." (87:636-37; App. 144-45). The court overruled the objection:

THE COURT: Well, this is argument; I think the jury understands that. It's not evidence and there has to be some latitude for advocacy during the course of argument. I'm not convinced that what he's saying is going beyond that at this point. And, of course, you still have the opportunity to get up there and make your presentation.

So let's proceed with that in mind.

(87:637; App. 145).

The prosecutor resumed the same line of argument, telling the jury that "[w]e must believe that [AL] lied" to Detective Erickson, and "[w]e must believe" that six months later she lied to Sergeant Stickney —"[w]e have to believe that she lied about that" — and "we have to then believe that she lied at the preliminary hearing", and "[w]e have to believe that she lied to us over the course of two days ... that she

intentionally lied to us this week. That's what we'd have to believe." (87:637-38; App. 145-46).

Further on, the prosecutor reminded the jury that in voir dire they discussed that if "somebody is going to make a flat out lie about something, they're going to have a reason. They're going to have some evidence of that reason." (87:646; App. 154). The state then referred to Bell's statement following his arrest that he had "no clue" why TP would make this up and asserted the defendant "just speculates" about that. (87:646-47; App. 154-55). "If a person lies about something, they must have a reason. And the reason why there is no evidence in this case about why anybody would lie is because they're not lying. [TP and AL] are not lying." (87:647; App. 155).

# Comments during rebuttal argument

In rebuttal, the prosecutor dismissed the defense theories that the sisters lied for their mother's attention or simply because they grew up in a home where lying was common, labeling those theories "[p]ure speculation, pure speculation, pure speculation." (87:678; App. 186). He argued, "There's "no evidence that they were lying." (*Id.*). The prosecutor reminded the jurors they could not speculate about why the sisters might lie.

If you find yourself doing that, the instructions say specifically you cannot do it; you cannot base it on mere guesswork or speculation. It says you're not to search for speculation ... you're supposed to search for the truth. And the truth is clear.

(87:679; App. 187). The prosecutor ended his rebuttal with:

So much what [defense counsel] asks you to do is sheer guesswork, sheer speculation. Something the jury instructions instruct you not to do.

I ask you to just simply follow the jury instructions and find the defendant guilty on all counts.

(87:682; App. 190).

# Grounds for relief and the lower courts' rulings

In his postconviction motion, Bell alleged that the prosecutor's argument was improper and entitled him to a new trial as plain error, in the interest of justice or, because counsel had not moved for a mistrial, due to ineffective assistance of counsel. (132:10-14).

At the *Machner* hearing, trial counsel testified he had objected to the prosecutor's argument because he believed it misstated the law and impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to the defense. (R2, 143:6-7). Although his usual practice is to discuss with the client whether to move for a mistrial, he had "absolutely no recollection" whether he had that discussion with Bell after the prosecutor's closing argument. (R2, 143:19). He had no notes showing that such a conversation occurred. (*Id.*). Bell testified there was no such discussion. (R2, 143:49). Counsel testified it "would be safe to say" that he did not explain that it was necessary to move for a mistrial in order to preserve the objection. (R2, 143:43).

The circuit court ruled that the prosecutor's argument did not shift the burden of proof or otherwise violate the defendant's constitutional rights. (R2, 143:99-100; App. 132-33). Although the court recognized this was "basically a credibility case", the arguments "were advocacy" that would

not support a finding of error or a new trial in the interest of justice. (*Id.*).

The court of appeals affirmed, holding that the prosecutor did not misstate the law. *Bell*, slip op. ¶ 3 (App. 102). As to the prosecutor's statements that the jurors must believe TP and AL are lying in order to find Bell not guilty, the court concluded that the prosecutor did not present these comments "as statements about what the law requires. Instead they were presented as comments on the facts in evidence, in particular about the mutually exclusive versions of the truth presented in the evidence." *Id.* at ¶28 (App. 112). With regard to comments that there must be evidence of a reason for the girls to lie and the defendant has presented no reason, the court was "satisfied that the prosecutor's statements, taken as a whole, rested on common sense propositions that did not misdirect jurors on legal issues." *Id.* at ¶33 (App. 116).

# Facts Relevant to Bell's Claim for a New Trial Due to Unredacted Exhibits Given to the Jury During Deliberations

Bell alleged that trial counsel was ineffective because two exhibits containing information that TP was a virgin before the assault were given to the jury during deliberations without redaction. (132:14-17).

Initially, only one exhibit was allowed back with the jury. (87:686). However, after the jury asked for more, the parties agreed to send back most of the exhibits, although several were subject to redacting. (87:689-97). The two exhibits at issue here – Defendant's Exhibits 4 and 11 – went back without redaction. (55; 64; 87:691, 693-94; App. 191-98).

Exhibit 4 is a transcript of the taped statement that Sergeant Stickney took from TP. After eliciting information from TP about how she was assaulted by Bell, the sergeant asked, "Had you ever had sex before that point?" TP responded, "No." (55:4; App. 194).

Exhibit 11 is Sergeant Stickney's written report recounting his interview of TP. In the report, Stickney made the following comments about TP's lack of sexual knowledge and experience:

She is 14 years old but seemed to have very little knowledge about sex. She had told me she had never had sex before.

She also could not say if he ejaculated or even if she knew what that meant. I tried to explain and she said she did not think he did but was not sure.

(64:2; App. 198).

When asked at the *Machner* hearing why he did not ask to have the above information redacted, counsel testified, "I can't tell you why I didn't"; "I can't tell you. I have no memory." (R2, 143:23). Counsel said he may have thought it was helpful for the jury to see it because it was "so ridiculous" that "in light of their dysfunctional lives that she's a virgin at 14 ...." (R2, 143:24-25). Counsel also conceded he may have "goofed up". (R2, 143:24).

The circuit court denied Bell's request for a new trial without expressly addressing the claim regarding the unredacted exhibits. (R2, 143:94-101; App. 127-34). The court of appeals affirmed, holding that Bell failed to show that he was prejudiced. *Bell*, slip op. ¶38 (App. 118).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. By Framing Its Prosecution of Bell Around Legal Fictions – That the Jury Could Not Acquit Unless It Concluded the Sisters Were Lying and Unless the Defendant Presented Evidence Showing a Reason for Them to Lie – the State Violated Bell's Constitutional Rights and Denied Him a Fair Trial.

## A. Summary of argument.

As representative of the government, the prosecutor's interest in a criminal prosecution "is not that it shall win the case, but that justice shall be done." *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). While the prosecutor may "strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul ones." *Id.* At times the line separating acceptable from improper advocacy is difficult to discern. *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 7 (1985). Not so here.

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