RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **06-01-2017**

IN SUPREME COUR CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case Nos. 2015AP2667-CR & 2015AP2668-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERROD R. BELL,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT
OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT
OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING
POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY, THE
HONORABLE MICHAEL J. ROSBOROUGH, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

2. Bell failed to prove prejudice.

Even assuming the "must believe" argument was erroneous, and assuming counsel performed deficiently by not coupling his burden-shifting objection with a mistrial motion, Bell failed to prove prejudice. As the trial court determined, there was no "harmful error . . . regardless of whether counsel did or did not object." (R2; 143:98, Pet-App. 131.) See Common, 818 F.3d at 832–33 (recognizing that erroneous prosecutorial argument is subject to the harmless error doctrine); *Id.* at 833 ("improper comments during closing arguments rarely rise to the level of reversible error" (quoted source omitted).)

Bell insists that "[a]s a legal matter, the jury could have acquitted without concluding that the sisters were lying and without proof of a reason for them to lie." (Bell's Br. 36.) As a "legal" matter perhaps; as a practical matter, no. Moreover, the prosecutor acknowledged in his argument

that "it could happen" that someone makes up a false sexual it's assault allegation, "but a strange occurrence." (R. 87:638.) While it is possible that the jury could have believed the victims but still found Bell not guilty, there is no reasonable probability of that remote outcome. That was not the defense theory and, if the jury believed the victims, then it would have acquitted only if it could not agree on the nature, time or location of the assaults. Those were not, however, issues of primary concern to the defense. There is nothing to indicate that the jury had difficulty agreeing as to the nature, time and location of the assaults assuming it believed the victims: Bell had vaginal intercourse with A.L. on the bathroom floor when she got out of the shower in early July, he had vaginal intercourse with T.P. in the yard at A.L.'s birthday party in late July and he touched A.L.'s breast on the couch also in late July.

The jury was properly instructed on the state's burden of proof; an instruction the jury presumably followed. Common, 818 F.3d at 833; LaCount, 310 Wis. 2d 85, ¶ 23. While Bell did not invite the prosecutor's remarks in his initial closing argument, he certainly invited the prosecutor's rebuttal remarks with his impassioned "Salem Witch Hunt" argument in which he accused the girls and their mother of being compulsive liars. Moreover, Bell set the stage for the prosecutor's remarks in both his initial and rebuttal closing arguments by conditioning this jury with his voir dire questions and his cross-examination of the State's witnesses at trial to the defense theory that the sisters lied.

Finally, the prosecutor's "statements were not clearly out of bounds," in light of the defense theory presented, and in light of how this case unfolded from voir dire on. *Common*, 818 F.3d at 833. Bell failed to prove a reasonable probability of a different outcome had the prosecutor stopped at pointing

out the diametrically opposed positons taken by the defense and the state regarding whether the victims lied, and had merely stated that if you (the jury) believe defense counsel's argument that the victims lied, then you should acquit. *Id*. All indications are that, as the law presumes, the jury would have followed the court's instructions, made its own independent assessment of the victims' credibility against Bell's denial and his defense that they lied, and held the State to its burden of overcoming the presumption of innocence with proof beyond a reasonable doubt that the sexual assaults occurred.

- D. Defense counsel reasonably decided not to object when the prosecutor properly pointed to the lack of any motive for the victims to falsely accuse Bell; and properly urged the jury not to speculate in the absence of any proof of a motive for them to falsely accuse him.
 - 1. The prosecutor did not misstate the law when he told the jury not to speculate in the absence of evidence.

Bell insists defense counsel should have objected when the prosecutor argued that the jury should not speculate but must search for the truth, that there was no reasonable hypothesis consistent with Bell's innocence, and that there was no reason for the girls to falsely accuse him. (Bell's Br. 24–27.) But, the pattern instructions told the jury just that —do not speculate without evidence to support it:

If you can reconcile the evidence upon any reasonable hypothesis consistent with the defendant's innocence, you should do so and return a verdict of not guilty.

The term "reasonable doubt" means a doubt based upon reason and common sense. It is a doubt for which a reason can be given, arising from a fair and rational consideration of the evidence or lack of evidence. It means such a doubt as would cause a person of ordinary prudence to pause or hesitate when called upon to act in the most important affairs of life.

A reasonable doubt is not a doubt which is based on mere guesswork or speculation. A doubt which arises merely from sympathy or from fear to return a verdict of guilt is not a reasonable doubt. A reasonable doubt is not a doubt such as may be used to escape the responsibility of a decision.

While it is your duty to give the defendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt, you are not to search for doubt. You are to search for the truth.

(R. 87:629–30.)

In weighing the evidence, you may take into account matters of your common knowledge and your observations and experience in the affairs of life.

(R. 87:631.) Wis. JI-Criminal 140 (2000).

Bell does not challenge the propriety of these time-honored instructions. They are constitutional. *State v. Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d 870, 887–890, 532 N.W.2d 423 (1995), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Gordon*, 2003 WI 69, ¶ 5, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765; *State v. Cooper*, 117 Wis. 2d 30, 34–37, 344 N.W.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1983); *Bembenek*, 111 Wis. 2d at 641–42. Bell's argument that the jury was free to speculate and search for doubt, despite the absence of any evidence to support the speculation or the search, flies in the face of these unambiguous and constitutional instructions.

The prosecutor did exactly as the instructions allowed: He appealed to the jury's collective reason, common sense, knowledge and experience in the affairs of life in arguing that there was no reason these young girls would falsely accuse a family friend, and none was offered at trial. The jury should not speculate or search for doubt; there must be a *reasonable* hypothesis consistent with Bell's innocence based on the evidence (or lack thereof) and none was offered here.

In his own closing argument, Matousek speculated as to a number of reasons why the sisters might lie: jealousy, the need for love and attention, the ability to manipulate others to get what they want, the desire to get revenge against their mother, and as a means of survival. Matousek presented no expert testimony to support any of this speculation. He never argued that, because the girls were compulsive liars who no longer knew truth from falsehood, the jury must acquit even if it was persuaded that one or more of the sexual assaults probably occurred.

When Matousek offered possible motives for the sisters to lie—jealousy, revenge, bad upbringing, and cries for attention—he opened the door to the prosecutor's rebuttal argument that there was no evidence to support his speculation. See Young, 470 U.S. at 11–13; Patino, 177 Wis. 2d at 380-83. It was for the jury to decide whether there was any such evidence and whether the reasons offered by defense counsel for the sisters to lie amounted to a reasonable hypothesis consistent with Bell's innocence. See State v. Saunders, 2011 WI App 156, ¶ 26, 338 Wis. 2d 160, 807 N.W.2d 679 (the prosecutor did not shift the burden of proof by commenting on the defendant's failure to call a witness, "Paul," who may not even have existed and who could not have corroborated the defendant's alibi. Id. ¶¶ 11–

14, 24); State v. Jaimes, 2006 WI App 93, ¶¶ 18–26, 292 Wis. 2d 656, 715 N.W.2d 669 (the prosecutor did not shift burden of proof when he pointed out, in rebuttal to the defense argument speculating as to why the State failed to call two witnesses to the defendant's drug deals, that those witnesses have the right not to incriminate themselves and the defense has the same subpoena power as does the State to bring those witnesses to court). See also State v. Gonzalez, 2013 WI App 105, ¶¶ 22–30, 349 Wis. 2d 789, 837 N.W.2d 178 (unpublished authored opinion cited for persuasive value only), affirmed on other grounds, State v. Gonzalez, 2014 WI 124, 359 Wis. 2d 1, 856 N.W.2d 580 (same). The prosecutor drew the reasonable, common sense inference that when someone lies, they will have a reason to lie. When someone falsely accuses another of sexual assault, they will have a reason to do so. See Hurley, 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶ 95 (the prosecutor "is permitted to draw any reasonable inferences from the evidence").

2. Bell failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice.

Because the prosecutor's argument was proper and an eminently reasonable response to defense counsel's strident "witch hunt" attack on the victims' credibility, there was no reason for counsel to object. Counsel was not ineffective for failing to interpose a meritless objection. *E.g.*, *State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987); *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110.

Bell failed to prove prejudice. The court of appeals was right: it is a matter of plain common sense that one who lies usually has a reason to lie. A lie is not an involuntary act. A lie cannot reasonably be divorced from motive and intent. One does not accidentally lie. One might falsely accuse by mistake or misperception. But, one does not *intentionally* falsely accuse by mistake; there has to be a reason for that person's intentional decision to lie about something as grave as sexual assault. Lacking any concrete reason, Bell's attorney could only speculate. The prosecutor properly pointed that out to the jury.¹⁰

II. The court of appeals properly agreed with the trial court that Bell did not prove actual prejudice to his defense caused by counsel's failure to redact from the police report sent in to the jury during deliberations the 13-year-old victim's statement that she never had sex before Bell assaulted her.

As discussed above, the jury asked to view various documents during deliberations, including the summaries of the police interviews with the two sisters. Defense counsel asked that all of the requested exhibits be sent to the jury but with some edits and redactions. The court agreed. (R. 87:687–98.) Defense counsel and the prosecutor meticulously went through all of the reports, editing and redacting where necessary, before the reports were sent to the jury room with the trial court's approval. (R. 87:693–98.) Defense counsel explained at the postconviction hearing that he wanted the reports of the police interviews sent in because, he believed, they exposed the lies and inconsistencies in the girls'

¹⁰ In his zeal, Bell accuses the trial prosecutor of "cheat[ing] by repeatedly striking foul blows." (Bell's Br. 36.) This smacks of an accusation that the prosecutor intentionally engaged in misconduct. The charge is baseless. The State categorically denies that its diligent prosecutor "cheated" to gain an unjust conviction. The trial court and the court of appeals did not believe that the prosecutor's appeal to common sense, and his reasonable response to the defense proof and argument, was "cheating;" nor should this Court.

accounts. Counsel did not, however, ask the court to redact the portion of the interview where 13-year-old T.P. told police she never had sex before Bell assaulted her at her sister's birthday party in late July, 2001. Bell argues that Attorney Matousek was ineffective for not having this portion of T.P.'s statement redacted from the reports sent to the jury.

The trial court on postconviction review did not rule on this aspect of Bell's motion. It addressed only the issues relating to the prosecutor's closing argument. The court of appeals addressed the issue and correctly ruled that Bell failed to prove actual prejudice. There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome had the statement been redacted.

First and foremost, if the jury agreed with defense counsel that the girls lied, it does not matter when, or even if, T.P. lost her virginity; she did not lose it to Bell.

Second, T.P. was 13 years old in July of 2001. It would come as no great shock to the jury, assuming it found that Bell had intercourse with T.P., that it was her first experience. Proof that T.P. lost her virginity to Bell "is not more prejudicial than testimony that [Bell] had intercourse with a 14–year–old child." *Burns*, 332 Wis. 2d 730, ¶ 39. T.P.'s unredacted statement that Bell "took her virginity did not differ in any significant way from her allegation that [Bell] had intercourse with her when she was [13] years old; [Bell] was able to challenge [T.P.'s] truthfulness that intercourse took place." *Id*. ¶ 43.

Third, the importance of the police reports from defense counsel's point of view was in that they revealed the falsehoods and inconsistencies in the sisters' accounts. If the jury agreed with counsel that their stories did not withstand scrutiny, T.P.'s denial of any previous sexual experience would also not hold up. Because the jury learned through the pediatrician that T.P. likely had engaged in sexual intercourse at some point in the past (R. 85:424–27), it may well have found that she lost her virginity not to Bell but to someone else and she falsely accused Bell to stay out of trouble. Proof that T.P. lost her virginity to someone other than Bell would be far more prejudicial to her than to Bell.

Fourth, Bell was able to aggressively challenge T.P.'s credibility in general, and her allegation that he had intercourse with her in particular, as discussed at length above. *See Burns*, 332 Wis. 2d 730, ¶¶ 40–42.

Fifth, as the court of appeals noted, the prosecutor never mentioned T.P.'s virginity in his closing arguments and her unredacted statements "were not a focus of the arguments at trial." *Bell*, 2016 WL 7742999, ¶ 45.

Sixth, T.P. told police and testified without objection that she felt significant pain when Bell inserted his penis into her vagina. (R. 55:4, Pet-App. 147; R. 64:2, Pet-App. 151; R. 85:488.) If believed, this would indicate strongly to the jury that she indeed had little or no experience with vaginal intercourse before then. Bell does not argue that his attorney was ineffective for allowing in T.P.'s statement to police and her trial testimony that intercourse with Bell caused her pain. And, again, if the jury agreed with defense counsel that she was lying, it would not have believed T.P.'s claim that Bell had vaginal intercourse with her and it caused her pain; that pain was caused by someone else. If the pediatrician was correct that she had sexual intercourse with someone, it was not with Bell. *Bell*, 2016 WL 7742999, ¶ 47.

There is no reasonable probability of an acquittal had the jury learned, as it did from the pediatrician, that T.P. was no longer a virgin but had not learned that T.P. told police she lost her virginity to Bell. As defense counsel argued to the jury, this case rose and fell on whether the girls lied about the sexual assaults. That credibility determination was not influenced, in all reasonable probability, by when T.P. claimed to have lost her virginity. If T.P. was lying about Bell, then she lost her virginity to someone else.

Of greater significance, readily apparent from reading the police reports, was T.P.'s becoming emotionally overwhelmed and having difficulty discussing the details of the assault during the interviews. (R. 55, Pet-App. 144–49; R. 64, Pet-App. 1150–51.) As the prosecutor aptly argued, T.P. was either telling the truth or was a great actor. The jury believed the former and it mattered little whether T.P. was a virgin when Bell sexually assaulted the 13-year-old at her sister's birthday party in July of 2001. Redaction would not "have reasonably tipped the scales to any meaningful degree in favor of the defense." *Bell*, 2016 WL 7742999, ¶ 48.11

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